IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM A. CAUSEY, M.D.

APPELLANT



V.

REITHA SANDERS, Individually and on Behalf of all Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Ersel Allen

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED BY APPELLANT

PREPARED AND SUBMITTED BY:

JOSEPH LERAY MCNAMARA, STEPHANIE C. EDGAR, MSB COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A. Post Office Box 6020 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158-6020 Telephone: (601) 856-7200 Facsimile: (601) 856-7626

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM A. CAUSEY, M.D.

APPELLANT

V.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether the Court erred in allowing Appellee's unqualified experts to testify as to the standard of care applicable to Dr. Causey and to Hospice?
- II. Whether the Court improperly limited the testimony of the defense experts?
- III. Whether the Court committed reversible error in failing to allocate fault to the University of Mississippi Medical Center, a settling defendant, whom Appellee's expert opined to be negligent?
- IV. Whether the Court erred in automatically submitting the issue of punitive damages to the jury simply because compensatory damages were awarded?
- V. Whether the Court erred in denying Dr. Causey's Motion for Remittitur?
- VI. Whether the Court erred in failing to instruct the jury as to Mississippi law regarding "chance of recovery"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. FACTS

This is a medical negligence/wrongful death action brought by the beneficiaries of decedent, Ersel Allen. Ms. Allen was admitted to the University of Mississippi Medical Center ("UMMC") on April 27, 2001, and was diagnosed with a tumor at the head of the pancreas and severe chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Exhibit D-29, p. 623 (UMMC Discharge Summary). While at UMMC, Ms. Allen went through numerous procedures and was cachectic having lost twenty pounds over the preceding months prior to her admission to the hospital. *Id.* at 623. She was consulted with and treated by numerous physicians who finally determined that UMMC had nothing further to offer her. She underwent pain service and was discharged to Hospice Ministries, Inc., a non-profit faithbased ministry, a fact which the Court refused to allow the jury to hear. T.33¹ (ruling on Motion *in Limine*).

On June 12, 2001, Ersel Allen was discharged from UMMC and transferred to Hospice Ministries, Inc. Exhibit D-29, p. 623, Discharge Summary of UMMC. Although Ms. Allen was discharged with a diagnosis of tumor on the head of the pancreas and although cancer of that tumor had been suspected, this fact was never confirmed by tissue diagnosis. David Duddleston, M.D., an internist and physician at the University of Mississippi Medical Center testified at trial,² T.889-895, that Ms. Allen had an obstruction in the bile duct which was identified by UMMC physicians and surgery was considered, but after consultation with the family, surgery was deemed inadvisable.

¹ References to Trial Transcript will be cited as T.___; References to Trial Court Record will be cited as R.___; and References to Record Excerpts will be cited as R.E.__.

² Dr. Duddleston's deposition was marked for identification as Exhibit D-60. *See also* exchange between the Court and Counsel for the Defense beginning at T.874.

T.897. Dr. Duddleston characterized Ms. Allen as cachectic, meaning she was "wasted, very, very malnourished; sunken cheeks, shrunken head, shriveled extremities, no fat anywhere. Very malnourished is another term for that. She was in pain . . . she looked much older than her stated age. She looked like she was eighty to me." T.888. The UMMC physicians decided that hospice care was the best course for her which would provide her with comfort and pain medication, and it was also determined by Dr. Duddleston that she had less than six months to live regardless of whether her pancreatic tumor was cancerous. T.914.

Upon her June 12, 2001, admission to Hospice, Ms. Allen was on Morphine. Exhibit P-4, p. 892. Her narrative summary on admission by Defendant, Dr. Causey, is Exhibit P-25. Diagnosis was "tumor at the head of the pancreas and severe COPD (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease). Dr. Causey commented that Exhibit P-25, p. 993, stated "patient has a rapidly growing tumor at the head of the pancreas that is inoperable. She has declined significantly during her hospital stay and her dependence on the staff has escalated precipitously. She has had the optimal therapy for illness and is now requiring palliative care." The discharge orders from UMMC, Exhibit P-27, refer to a tumor at the head of the pancreas, and to label her chart "do not resuscitate."

A physician determination of terminal illness, Exhibit P-26, signed by Dr. Causey and UMMC physician Dr. Duddleston, states that Ms. Allen had an expected life of six months. She and her family understood the scope of hospice, that it was to provide palliative care, and that it was not expected to rediagnose and cure her. The admission agreement to Hospice was signed by Reitha Sanders, her daughter, and the person who filed this lawsuit. Exhibit P-23. Among other things stated is that the illness was not curable and that attempts to control her disease continued, but that the primary goal of care for Ms. Allen was the comfort and relief of pain and suffering. *Id.*

Dr. Causey was, at the time of Ms. Allen's admission in Hospice a board certified internist and infectious disease specialist. *See* 30(b)(6) deposition testimony of Dr. Causey, read to the jury, Exhibit D-54 for identification, p. 9. He provided medical oversight to hospice care which is essentially and primarily nursing care. *Id.*, p. 12. Dr. Causey, based upon the documents provided to him, believed that the patient did have pancreatic cancer. *Id.*, p. 21-22. He testified that he understood that the autopsy report failed to reveal that she had pancreatic cancer, Exhibit D-54, p. 22, and that he believed regardless of whether she had a "diagnosis of pancreatic cancer, that she had a life expectancy of less than six months." *Id.* at 25. On July 6, Ms. Allen was changed from Morphine to hydromorphone (Dilaudid) because Dr. Causey and staff believed that her pain relief could be accomplished with fewer side effects. The principal factor in changing dosages of pain reliever was the degree of pain relief to achieve balanced against "excessive sedation or suppression of respiratory activity." *Id.* at p. 35.

While at Hospice, her Dilaudid dosages were increased under the direction of Dr. Causey. While there are recommended dosages for the use of Dilaudid, Morphine and other opiates in an acute-care setting such as a hospital, there is no upper limit on an amount that a person can take in the hospice pain-care situation. *Id.* at p. 35 and Testimony of Gerry Ann Houston, M.D., oncologist, internist and specialist in palliative care at T.563.

See Topics in Palliative Care, Exhibit D-39, R.E.11, referenced by Dr. Houston in her testimony at T.563-564, makes clear how dosages are determined. She noted that sometimes, as verified by the article, one patient may require fifty times the amount of pain medication as the other. Further, she explained that if a patient exhibits pain, the dosage should be increased, whereas sleepiness and respiratory depression would dictate a decrease in the dosage. T.565. The nursing progress notes of Ms. Allen while at Hospice, Exhibit D-43, give a detailed course of her treatment and changes in medication. They reflect increases in pain medication throughout her stay. By July 20, 2001, her pain medication had been increased for the last time. Exhibit D-43, p. 942. A reading of the record of the last few hours of her life, during which time she was getting this dosage [which Plaintiff's experts refer to as "lethal" (18 milligrams per hour with a 4 milligram bolus of Dilaudid)] demonstrates that Ms. Allen was not overdosed. Rather, the records reveal that the balance was being maintained between pain relief and respiratory depression during this time, which is the standard of care for dosing in a hospice care setting. The medical record reflects Ms. Allen continued to have labored breathing, continued to talk, understood what was going on and was asking to die. In fact, on the evening before her death, shortly after midnight, her daughter was requesting a sleeping pill. Exhibit D-43, pp. 944-946. Thus, there was absolutely no evidence of overdosing.

Steven Hayne, State Medical Examiner, performed the autopsy, and after sending off blood samples to a toxicology laboratory, concluded that she died of a Dilaudid overdose. His preliminary conclusion had been that she had died from coronary artery disease, hypertensive heart disease and emphysema. T. 244. Dr. Hayne testified that the 6,900 nanograms per milliliter was a toxic amount, and that he had never before seen that amount. T. 226-227. His report showed no evidence of the tumor on the head of the pancreas. T. 227.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

The Plaintiff's Complaint, filed in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, named a number of Defendants, including UMMC, Hospice Ministries, Inc. and the Appellant, William A. Causey, M.D. First Amended Complaint; R.14-20. There were two major thrusts to the Complaint, the first being that UMMC misdiagnosed Ms. Allen as having a malignant tumor of the pancreas; that UMMC erroneously determined that Allen had less than six months to live and that UMMC negligently recommended Allen's discharge to Hospice Ministries, Inc. "a care center for terminally ill patients." R.16-17. The second point raised in the Complaint was that "Hospice Ministries, Inc. through its employees, agents, doctors, nurses and/or medical staff, breached the standard of care (1) by administering Dilaudid to a non-terminally ill patient; (2) failing to properly monitor the amount of Dilaudid; and (3) giving an amount sufficient to cause Ms. Allen's death. R.18, ¶22. The Complaint sought actual and punitive damages against all Defendants.

UMMC treating physicians Drs. Williams and McClusky, and Hospice employee D. Daniel, R.N., were voluntarily dismissed, and UMMC was dismissed pursuant to a settlement agreement. R.4, R.13. The case proceeded to trial against only Hospice Ministries, Inc. and Dr. Causey, Medical Director of Hospice who was responsible for Ms. Allen's medical care while in Hospice. Dr. Causey was not present at trial. He was serving time in a federal facility for conviction on a charge unrelated to his medical practice. While the jury was deliberating, a settlement was reached as to Hospice. T.1026. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Plaintiff in the amount of Four Million Dollars compensatory damages. Exhibit C-3 and R.493-494. The Court proceeded to automatically submit the matter to the jury on punitive damages as to Dr. Causey, and the jury returned a verdict for punitive damages in the sum of \$500,000. Exhibit C-7 and R.493-494.

A final judgment on the jury verdict was entered setting forth the actual damages verdict of \$4,000,000, the punitive damages verdict of \$500,000, offset by amounts received in settlement from UMMC and Hospice. The judgment entered and appealed from is \$3,485,000. R.493-494; R.E. 8.

Defendant, Dr. Causey, has perfected his appeal properly, and was denied relief on all of the following post-trial motions: Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict, Motion for New Trial and Motion for Remittitur and/or to Strike Punitive Damages. R. 553, R.E.10.

ŧ

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court erred in allowing Drs. Garriott, a toxicologist with no clinical experience, and Hookman, a gastroenterologist only vaguely familiar with hospice care and not at all familiar with this particular Hospice, to testify as to the standard of care applicable to Dr. Causey and Hospice. Likewise, the Court erred in failing to recognize that the Appellee's evidence and testimony regarding cause of death were flawed under Miss. R. Evid. 702, adopted in response to *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993). These experts did not qualify by reason of education, training and experience to attest as to the standard of care for treating opioid habituated patients in the chronic pain management setting, and their testimony did nothing but confuse and mislead the jury. Their testimony was based on selective and rather casual medical reading, all of which wholly ignored literature on pain management.

The Court further erred in failing to instruct the jury regarding allocation of fault to a settling defendant, UMMC and in automatically submitting the issue of punitive damages to the jury simply because compensatory damages were awarded. Further, the trial court committed error in denying Dr. Causey's Motion for Remittitur of this \$3,485,000.00 verdict. The Court committed reversible error in failing to instruct the jury as to Mississippi law regarding "chance of recovery" as the jury should have known that a plaintiff in this state cannot recover if there is no reasonable probability of substantial improvement in the decedent's condition.

ARGUMENT

I. Whether the Court Erred in Allowing Appellee's Unqualified Experts to Testify as to the Standard of Care Applicable to Dr. Causey?

The Plaintiff's experts testified that the amounts of Dilaudid given to Ms. Allen were in excess of the recommended dosages. Each of these witnesses utilized publications regarding dosing which has no application to a patient in a chronic pain setting such as in a hospice. *See* testimony of Dr. Hookman, D-41, pp. 105-106, testifying using the Vistas Innovative Hospice Care Ruler. Toxicologist James Garriott testified from the *Micromedix* on-line manual. T.281. These witnesses testified that two to four milligrams of the pain killer every four to six hours was a proper dosage which is in strong contrast to what Ms. Allen received.

On the other hand, Defendants' experts testified that the amounts given were proper, and that the dosages which the Plaintiff stated to be the standard would have been ineffective, and that the proper dose is, in effect, whatever amount eliminates the pain. Testimony of Gerry Ann Houston, T.563. Dr. Houston also testified that the amount recommended in the *Physicians' Desk Reference* and the other publications or slide rulers would not be used. T.568. Dr. Melvin Gitlin, a pain specialist from Tulane University, testified that the dosages recommended by the Plaintiff's experts of two to three milligrams every four to six hours would not have been within the standard of care. T.656-658. Dr. Gitlin testified that had the Appellee's recommended dosage of Dilaudid been given on July 6, 2001, the date when Dilaudid was first given, Ms. Allen would have been in severe pain and begun to experience withdrawals. T.656.

There is a great disparity between what the Plaintiff says is the standard and what the standard truly is in a hospice care setting. Hospice care and palliative medicine is a recognized

specialty. There is a standard of care unique to it, which was wholly ignored by the Court. Plaintiff's experts were, in truth, unfamiliar with the standard of care, unknowledgeable in the standard of care, and as such, should not have been allowed to testify. Not only had they no hospice experience, they had not even read on the subjects that deal with administering hydromorphone to chronically ill patients. Had the Court properly exercised its duties to act as a gatekeeper of expert testimony, a directed verdict would have been proper in favor of Dr. Causey.

Ersel Allen was a patient at UMMC from April 27 until June 12, 2001. In spite of an extensive course of treatment by numerous physicians at UMMC, her treating physicians determined that she had less than six months to live and that there was nothing further that could be done for her. *See* testimony of David Duddleston, M.D., T.908. Dr. Causey was Medical Director of the Hospice who accepted her for hospice treatment, relying upon the opinion of the referring physicians as to shortness of her life. Causey Dep., Exhibit D-54, p. 46.

Dr. Causey is an internist who is board certified in internal medicine and infectious disease. Causey has been with Hospice since 1990 and prior to that, he had treated hospice patients. Exhibit D-54, pp. 9-10. He was the physician who determined, with the assistance of Hospice nurses and its pharmacist, the amounts of pain medication to be administered to Ms. Allen, a terminal patient, during her time in Hospice. *Id.* Dr. Causey and other physicians and staff at Hospice were engaged in the practice of palliative medicine, a specialty which the Court refused to acknowledge with unfortunate consequences to Dr. Causey.

The treatment of terminal patients in the hospice setting bears no resemblance to the treatment of a patient in an acute care hospital, who is receiving an initial dosage of an opioid. Plaintiff convinced the Court and the jury to the contrary. For example, see the Court's ruling, T.

555, regarding the testimony of a defense expert, Dr. Gerry Ann Houston, board certified in "Hospice and Palliative Medicine." Exhibit D-52. When tendered as an expert in, among other things, "the care of terminal patients," the Court noted that it did not consider the treatment of terminal patients as a separate specialty, but that it was encompassed within oncology. T. 557. The Court's pronouncement would no doubt come as a surprise to the governing bodies and members of the American Board of Hospice and Palliative Medicine and the American College of Pain Medicine. Exhibits D-52, D-53. Dr. Melvin Gitlin of Tulane University Medical Center, a defense expert, was likewise tendered as an expert "in the field of pain management of terminal patients," and although he was Board Certified in Pain Management and Pain Medicine, the Court stated that it would qualify him in the area of anesthesiology which covers "the aspects I believe of pain management." T.635. Dr. Gitlin has taught and published extensively on the use of opioids in the treatment of chronic pain. Exhibit D-53. He is a Fellow of the American College of Pain Medicine, a Diplomate of the American Board of Pain Medicine, and holds a sub-specialty recertification in pain medicine from the American Board of Anesthesiology. *Id.*

Dr. Gitlin testified as follows regarding the difference between a hospice and a hospital: "Whereas a traditional hospital is set up to treat illness, a hospice is set up to provide end-of-life care which would otherwise be very difficult for people to obtain in other circumstances thereabout making . . ." T.641. An objection was made about Dr. Gitlin testifying as to the difficulties of obtaining similar treatment elsewhere which was sustained by the Court which stated: ". . . <u>because</u> <u>it doesn't make any difference whether it's a hospital or a hospice</u>." T.643 (emphasis added).

Dr. Michael Byers, Co-Medical Director of Hospice, an infectious disease specialist and internist, was also offered as a defense expert witness "in the care of patients in a hospice setting and as an infectious disease specialist and internist." The Court qualified him "as an expert in the area of internal medicine and infectious disease to include within that his treatment of terminally ill patients, but went on to say, "in terms of the area of an expert in a hospice, the Court finds that it is not a part of his expertise even though it is a job that he now holds." T.797. The Court again refused to recognize that treatment of a terminal patient in a hospice setting is a unique branch of the practice of medicine.

Three physicians, Drs. Houston, Byers, and Gitlin, all experts in pain management and palliative care, testified that there was no limit on Morphine or Dilaudid in the treatment of a terminal patient. Dr. Houston testified at T.563 that the proper dose is whatever it takes to get rid of the pain. Later, she cited from Topics In Palliative Care, Exhibit D-39, stating that, "[T]here is no maximum safe dose of Morphine and other pure immuantagonist opioids." T.564, R.E.11. After noting that Dilaudid, the drug in question, was one of those opioids, she again quoted from the exhibit Topics: "Inner patient variance of up to fifty fold has been reported for the dose of Morphine required to provide relief, and noted that the same would be true as to Dilaudid." She also stated that Exhibit D-40, The Management of Cancer Pain supported her testimony. R.E.27. This source stated, "A minimum effective analgesic dose, ceiling dose, or toxic dose for any individual patient with cancer pain is unknown." T.567. Dr. Gitlin likewise testified that there is no literature which reflects that there are ceiling doses or toxic dosages of Dilaudid for terminal patients. T.658. Michael Byers testified that the principal factor one looks at in treating a terminal patient is achieving pain control, and that there was nothing unusual about the amounts of medication given to Ms. Allen in this setting. By contrast, the expert witness for the Plaintiff, Dr. Perry Hookman, a gastroenterologist, based his opinions upon reference to the *Physician's Desk Reference* and to a chart which he produced, neither of which provides guidelines for treating terminal patients habituated to opioids.

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