IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

WILLIAM A. CAUSEY, M.D.

APPELLANT

V.

REITHA SANDERS, Individually and on Behalf of all Wrongful Death Beneficiaries of Ersel Allen

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT OF HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

PREPARED AND SUBMITTED BY:

RICHARD A. FREESE,

FREESE & GOSS, PLLC Post Office Box 5386 1520 North State Street Jackson, Mississippi 39202 Telephone: (601) 961-4050 Facsimile: (601) 352-5450

DENNIS C. SWEET,

SWEET & ASSOCIATES 200 South Lamar St. Ste. 200 North Tower Jackson, MS 39207 Telephone : (601) 965-8700 Facsimile: (601) 965-8719

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

At the trial of this matter, Plaintiffs proffered the testimony of three (3) expert witnesses, all of whom testified that Ersel Allen died as a result of a Dilaudid overdose. Appellant argues in his brief that two of those experts, Dr. Perry Hookman, M.D. and Dr. James Garriott, Ph.D, were not qualified to render opinions in this case. However, both of the experts tendered by the Plaintiff are highly credentialed and knowledgeable concerning appropriate dosages of Dilaudid in patients such as Ms. Allen. Both were eminently qualified to testify regarding the standard of care at issue in this case, and the trial court did not comment error in allowing their testimony at trial. Moreover, the standard of care as enunciated by every defense expert who testified for Appellant, agreed with Plaintiffs' experts on the main issue of the case: that it would have been a violation of the standard of care to kill Ms. Allen with an overdose of Dilaudid.

As the gatekeeper, the trial court properly curtailed the testimony of defense experts insofar as their opinions related to dosages that were not consistent with those rendered to Ms. Allen in this case. There was no error and the trial court did not abuse her discretion in making such rulings.

.

ì

1

ł

1

t.

£ .

Ė

Appellant's third issue on appeal is also without merit. Because there was no evidence at the trial of this matter that Ersel Allen's death was caused by UMMC, the Court did not err in declining to allocate fault to the University of Mississippi Medical Center. While Plaintiff was able to show at trial that UMMC misdiagnosed Ms. Allen as having pancreatic cancer, this misdiagnosis did not cause Ms. Allen to receive lethal doses of Dilaudid. That was done solely at Appellant's hands.

Likewise, the trial court did not commit error by submitting the issue of punitive damages to the jury. The trial court followed the proper procedure set out by the Mississippi Supreme

Court for conducting a bificurated trial in a case involving punitive damages claims. Appellant's fifth argument on appeal is unsubstantiated and the trial court is due to be affirmed on this issue.

In this case, the jury's award is amply supported by the evidence in the case, and the trial court did not commit error by denying Dr. Causey's Motion for Remittitur. Appellant has failed to establish the grounds necessary for such relief and as such, the trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

Finally, there was no error committed by the trial court by declining to instruct the jury regarding "chance of recovery". This is not a hindered recovery case, rather, it is a case based upon Appellant's acts in causing the death of the decedent, Ersel Allen by Dilaudid overdose. The trial court in this case properly instructed the jury on causation, and the jury clearly based its verdict on that instruction, and upon the evidence that established that Dr. Causey's negligence was the proximate cause of Ersel Allen's death.

ŝ

ι

i

1

i

ć

ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Acted Within Its Discretion In Qualifying Plaintiffs' Experts to Testify at Trial as to Dr. Causey's Breach of the Applicable Standard of Care.

During the trial of this case, Plaintiffs offered expert testimony of three witnesses: (I) Dr. Steven Hayne, M.D., State Medical Examiner for the State of Mississippi; (ii) Dr. Perry Hookman, M.D., gastro-internist and (iii) Dr. James C. Garriott, Ph.D., a toxicologist; (iv) Carmen McIntire. Each of these witnesses testified that Ms. Allen died of an overdose of Dialudid, that was administered by Appellant. Appellant's main contention in this portion of his appeal is that there is a special standard of care that applies to a physician who renders care and treatment in a hospice setting, which differs from the standard of care a physician outside of that setting owes to his patients. [Appellant's Br. § 1] He argues that because Plaintiffs' experts were not specialists in the field of hospice care, they were not qualified to render expert testimony in this case. [See, e.g., Appellant's Br. 15-16] Appellant does not, however, cite to any legal authority in Mississippi, or any other jurisdiction for that matter, that recognizes and supports his contention. Indeed, in Mississippi, there is no recognized "special" standard of care as proposed by Appellant herein.

ł

ī

4

i

i

ŧ.

ι,

The appropriate standard of care for this medical malpractice case is as follows:

Mississippi physicians are bound by nationally-recognized standards of care; they have a duty to employ 'reasonable and ordinary care' in their treatment of patients...[G]iven the circumstances of each patient, each physician has a duty to use his or her knowledge and therewith treat through maximum reasonable medical recovery, each patient, with such reasonable diligence, skill, competence, and prudence as are practiced by minimally competent physicians in the same specialty or general field of practice throughout the United States, who have available to them the same general facilities, services, equipment and options.

McAllister v. Franklin County Memorial Hosp., 910 So.2d 1205, ¶15 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005),

citing, *Palmer v. Biloxi Reg'l Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 564 So.2d 1346, 1354 (Miss.1990); *Hall v. Hilbun*, 466 So.2d 856, 873 (Miss.1985). In light of this Court's position regarding the standard of care for medical professionals, Appellant s have transmogrified this well recognized standard into a fictitious, phantom "Hospice" standard of care. Essentially, Appellant erroneously argues that Plaintiffs failed to make their *prima facie* case because their expert witnesses were never medical directors of a hospice, nor associated with the hospice facilities. [Appellants' Br. p. 18]. Again, no legal argument is offered to support Appellant's position as to the applicability of this alternate standard of care, nor is it supported by the record in this case.

On the subject of an expert's qualifications, the trial court has the discretion to determine whether a witness is sufficiently knowledgeable to be considered an expert. *Nunnally v. R.J. Reynolds Tobacco Co.*, 869 So.2d 373, 384 (Miss. 2004) (citations omitted). The standard of review for the admission or suppression of evidence in Mississippi is abuse of discretion. *Id.*, citing, *Troupe v. McAuley*, 955 So.2d 848, 855(Miss. 2007). The trial judge has the sound discretion to admit or refuse expert testimony; an abuse of discretion standard means the judge's decision will stand unless the discretion she used is found to be arbitrary and clearly erroneous. *Id.*

In *Troupe*, supra, this Court recently held that, "[t]he rule is that the expert must exercise the same level of intellectual rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the relevant field." *Troupe*, 955 So.2d at 858. (citations omitted) The Mississippi Court of Appeals, in *Bass*, supra, applied the *Troupe* holding, and further explained,

The plain language of Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702 considers a witness "qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education" and allows the witness to testify and offer opinions if his "scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." M.R.E. 702. The framework employed in

į.

ł

determining whether particular proffered expert testimony meets the requirements of Mississippi Rule of Evidence 702 necessarily involves the trial court's first determination of whether the expert testimony is relevant...If the trial court finds that the proffered testimony is relevant, then the court next considers whether the proffered testimony is reliable. Each determination by a trial court regarding the admissibility and reliability of expert testimony is a fact intensive one, and requires immersion in the subject matter of the case.

Bass, supra, citing, Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31, 40 (Miss. 2003)(adopting federal framework of Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2786, 125 L.Ed.2d 469 (1993).

The mere fact that Plaintiffs' experts were never medical directors of a Hospice facility, nor were they specifically acquainted with the general facilities, services, equipment and options available at the Hospice facility at the time of Ms. Allen's death, does not invalidate their testimony of the care, breach and causation regarding the claim against Appellant. Appellants hallow effort is a transparent red herring.. The question is not whether Plaintiffs' experts were an Hospice internist, Hospice toxicologist, or some other Hospice specialist, but rather, the question is whether they possessed the knowledge, skill, training, and experience to possess that "peculiar knowledge" requisite to offer expert opinion regarding the claims against Appellant. *See Partin v. North Mississippi Med. Center, Inc.*, 929 So.2d 924 (Miss. App. 2005). Clearly they did.

1. Dr. Hookman Was Qualified to Testify as an Expert on Behalf of Plaintiffs.

Applying the above-cited law to the instant case, and in light of Dr. Hookman's knowledge, skill, training and experience, the trial court properly qualified him as an expert in this case, and there was no abuse of discretion in so doing. Perry Hookman, M.D., P.A. is Board Certified in both Gastroenterology and Internal Medicine. He was proffered as an expert concerning the standard of care of another internist, Dr. Causey, Appellant herein. Dr. Hookman holds a Masters Degree in Health Administration and is Board Certified in Medical Management,

į

t

is faculty at John's Hopkins University and has authored/coauthored approximately 50 publications. Dr. Hookman has been in private practice for more than 25 years and is a member of a Medical School Faculty. He is a teacher to other physicians, interns, and residents in internal medicine and gastroenterology. Based upon the trial court's review of Dr. Hookman's qualifications, it is clear that Dr. Hookman was eminently qualified to testify concerning the issues presented in this case.

2. Dr. Garriott Was Qualified to Testify as an Expert on Behalf of Plaintiffs.

Likewise, Dr. James C. Garriott was properly qualified as expert in this case. His long and impressive resume reflects his knowledge, skill and training in the field of pharmacology and toxicology. T. 264- 274. Specifically, Dr. Garriott is an adjunct professor at the University of Texas Health Science Center. Prior to becoming a professor, he was Chief Toxicologist for the Bexar County Medical Examiner's Office in San Antonio, Texas. He has approximately thirtyfive (35) years employment as a professional toxicologist. Dr. Garriott has a long history of professorships and teaching in the department of pathology and pharmacology, and is Board Certified as a Forensic Toxicologist. He has written on the topic of Dilaudid, beginning with a Forensic Toxicology Research Study on Dilaudid in 1978. Based upon the forgoing credentials, as well as those set forth in his curriculum vitae, it is abundantly clear that the trial court was well within her discretion in qualifying Dr. Garriott as an expert in the fields of pharmacology and toxicology.

Inasmuch as the death certificate of Plaintiffs' deceased, Ersel Allen, indicated the cause of death to be "Dilaudid overdose," an expert in the field of pharmacological overdose was certainly relevant. After the trial court determined that Dr. Garriott's proposed expert testimony was both relevant and reliable, it was well within her discretion to allow the introduction of this

i

L

į

evidence. T. 280. Importantly, at trial, counsel for Appellant did not object to Dr. Garriott's qualification as an expert. T. 274. Appellants fail to demonstrate how the trial court's allowance of this evidence was arbitrary and clearly erroneous, and thus no error should be found.

All three (3) experts offered by Plaintiffs possessed the knowledge, skill, training, experience and "peculiar knowledge" requisite to offer expert opinion to assist the trier of fact determine the issues presented in this case. Likewise, all three (3) experts reached the same conclusion regarding the cause of Ersel Allen's death. The testimony of Dr. Perry Hookman revealed that it is certainly likely that Ersel Allen could have survived another six (6) or seven (7) years but for the Dilaudid overdose administered by the Defendants. Ex. D-41. Further, Hookman revealed that he had never seen levels of Dilaudid in any living creature as high as those observed in Ersel Allen. Ex. D-41.

Dr. Steven Hayne, Medical Examiner for the State of Mississippi, testified that Ersel Allen's death was proximately caused as a result of the Dilaudid overdose. Dr. Hayne testified that having performed over 30,000 autopsies in his career, he had never observed levels of Dilaudid as has as those in the body of Ersel Allen. T. 227. He illustrated the impact of the massive Dilaudid dosage on Ms. Allen:

It was a massive Dilaudid overdose. It was the equivalent of a person walking down the street with heart disease, some pancreatic disease, some lung disease and getting shot in the head with a shotgun. In this case the shotgun was the medication. It was Dilaudid. It was not...lead from a shotgun, but it was overwhelming. T234-235.

į

ŧ

ŧ,

ł

Dr. James Garriott's testimony certainly supported the conclusion reached by Dr. Hayne and Dr. Hookman in that he opined Ersel Allen was administered a lethal dose of Dilaudid, and that she died as a result of an overdose of the opioid. T 303.

Not only did Plaintiffs' experts testify regarding the excessive amounts of Dilaudid that

were found in Ms. Allen's body after her death, a forensic toxicologist for the Mississippi Crime Laboratory, Carmen McIntire, testified regarding her involvement in this case. T. 251. Ms. McIntire was requested by the Medical Examiner's office to perform a forensic toxicological analysis on July 23, 2001, on biological specimens that were submitted on Ersel Allen. T. 256. This was done in the course and scope of her normal job operation at the Crime Lab. T. 257. Ms. McIntyre was responsible for sending the samples to National Medical Services ("NMS"), a reference laboratory that is utilized by the State of Mississippi to do testing for legal proceedings. T. 258. The NMS laboratory detected Hydromorphone (Dilaudid) in the biological specimen of Ersel Allen at a concentration of 6,900 nanograms per milliliter. T. 259. According to Ms. McIntire, an independent witness, during the 15 years that she has worked as a forensic toxicologist at the Crime Lab, she had never seen lab results concerning that high of an amount of Hydromorphone (Dilaudid). T. 260.

,

1

ł.

Ι.

In this case, Appellant argues that his physician experts all testified that there was no limit on Morphine or Dilaudid in the treatment of terminal patients. [Appellant's Br. p. 14] He compares his experts' "experience" with that of Plaintiffs' experts, and without any legal support, states that the trial court should have weighed the competing experts' "experience" to determine whether or not Plaintiffs' experts should have been qualified by the to render their opinions in the case. [Appellant's Br. p. 15] Of course no such requirement is imposed on the trial court. Rather, the law, as set forth above, requires the trial court to make the determination as to the relevancy and reliability of each expert, on his or her own merit, as was done in this case. See, e.g., T. 280.

Importantly, while Appellant contends that Plaintiff's experts were not qualified to testify as to the standard of care in a hospice situation, claiming that a different standard applied, Plaintiffs satisfied a standard of care in such a setting through testimony of Appellant's own

expert witnesses. Appellant's own expert witnesses testified as to the standard of care in a hospice setting, and that it would be a breach of the standard of care for Dr. Causey or Hospice if Dr. Causey or Hospice in any way hastened Ms. Allen's death or gave her a dose of Dilaudid that led to her death.

As stated earlier, Appellant stated in his brief that Drs. Houston, Byers and Gitlin were qualified experts in pain management and palliative care and that there was "...no limit on Morphine or Dilaudid in the treatment of a terminal patient." Of course, the standard would not apply if Ms. Allen did not have terminal cancer. However, even if one is to assume that Ms. Allen was in fact terminal (which she was not), Appellant's own experts' testimony bolstered the Appellee's argument.

ł

:

÷

i

į

ł

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